1994

Michael A. Mower v. James D. Craghead, F. Lynn Padan : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

Default Judgment was entered against the Defendant on August 24, 1994. The trial court denied Defendant's Objection to Proposed Order (Default Judgment), Motion to Stay Entry of the Default Judgment and in the alternative Motion for Relief from Order and/or for a New Trial on September 22, 1994. (R. 235) A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on October 12, 1994. (R. 237) This court has jurisdiction under Utah Code Ann. §78-2a-3(d).

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in dismissing the Defendants' Answer as sanctions for failure to comply with discovery given Defendant's inability to comply rather than wilful noncompliance? (R. 153 & 207).

2. Did the trial court err in dismissing the Defendants' Counterclaim in view of the fact that no previous order gives any notice of such action and no opportunity for any hearing was afforded the Defendants prior to the court sua sponte striking such? (R. 195 & 208.)?

3. Were the Defendants denied due process when the trial court failed to have the Plaintiff or itself transmit signed copies of either the order compelling discovery or judgment to the Defendants after entry as required by the Utah Code of Judicial Administration? (R. 196 & 208-9)?¹

4. Did the trial court err in not requiring some type of evidentiary hearing and allowing the Plaintiff to incorporate into

¹ Did the Circuit Court's practice of failing to issue Memorandum Decisions (simply notifying the parties by mailing highlighted copies of the court's Docket) comply with the Utah Code of Judicial Administration?

its judgment "just over \$11,000" of the \$13,515.58 in claimed damages of a third party who was barred from attempting further collection and the Plaintiff in this case was technically barred under the doctrines of claim preclusion and issue preclusion from including such in its damage claim? (R. 207-209)

STATUTES

The text of the Utah Code Ann. §§58-55-17, now §58-55-604, §4-504 UCJA and Rule 4(b) U.R.C.P. are contained in Appendix F.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Defendant James D. Craghead is the owner of a home located up Millcreek Canyon, Salt Lake County, Utah, (hereinafter "property"). Defendant Aspen Construction Co. and F. Lynn Padan, respectively, are the general contractor and the responsible licensee whom Mr. Craghead contracted with to do a significant remodeling of the property.

Michael Mower is a subcontractor who contracted with Aspen to do the sheetrocking and related work in relationship to the remodeling. Mower in turn, subcontracted a portion of his sheetrocking job to Martin Bennett. Aspen and Mower are duly licensed general contractors. Bennett is not licensed.

In late 1992, both Bennett and Mower filed mechanic liens against the property claiming \$13,135.77 and \$13,515.58, respectively. Craghead and Aspen disputed the liens and claimed an offset for damage to the premises when Mower and/or Bennett failed to cover certain beam work which had been previously painted and lacquered. The damage resulted in the beam work having to be completely refinished at a cost of between \$3,900 - \$4,500.

B. Course of Proceedings

Both Bennett and Mower filed separate mechanics liens against the property. Later, Bennett filed suit in the District Court to foreclose his lien,² and Mower filed suit in Circuit Court to foreclose his lien. Mower moved in both the Circuit and District Courts to consolidate the two cases. Before either court could address the propriety of consolidating the two cases, the District Court granted the Defendants' Motion to Dismiss the Bennett case pursuant to §58-55-17 U.C.A. and awarded attorney's fees of approximately \$3,000 against Bennett pursuant to §38-1-18 Utah Code Ann. (1989)³. (see Appendix A-1 and A-2).

Before addressing significant dates of the procedural history in the present case it is important to understand what information the Plaintiff had obtained from the two proceedings.

The attorney for the Plaintiff, Ms. Falk, also represented Mr. Mower in the District Court case. Before the District Court granted the Motion to Dismiss in the Bennett case the Defendant submitted significant discovery (see Appendix B), including taking

² Mower's and Bennett's relationship was such that Mower issued Bennett a 1099 (not a W-2) and treated him as an independent contractor - not an employee. Bennett therefore sought his remedy independent of Mower rather than as an employee through the Industrial Commission.

³ 1. *Significance of the Bennett Case Third District Court 93-0904047CV.*

The Bennett proceeding (District Court) is important to this case because significant discovery was undertaken in the Bennett case, including depositions of Mower and Bennett, of which Plaintiff's counsel was aware. In order to analyze whether the Defendants were acting in good faith (whether the order striking the Answer and granting a Default Judgment as sanctions was appropriate), we would respectfully submit that the discovery undertaken in both proceedings must be reviewed since significant action took place in the Bennett case that is relevant to the present case.

Additionally, of the \$13,515.58 claimed by Mower, he clearly acknowledged that "just over \$11,000.00" is due to Bennett's work, i.e., that only \$2,500.00 (approximate) is due to him separately as a markup or for materials. (See Mower deposition in District Court proceedings, page 26 lines 4-6 attached hereto as Appendix C.)

Mr. Bennett's and Mr. Mower's depositions. (See Appendix B-4 and B-5.) This is important because the facts and circumstances surrounding the Bennett case were exactly the same facts and circumstances involved in the present case. Because counsel for the Plaintiff in the present case had in her possession significant discovery in the Bennett case she was privy to all the information obtained from the Bennett discovery, including the Bennett and Mower depositions. (This discovery is information the Circuit Court was never aware of.) The Appellants would respectfully request this court to keep this in mind when it determines whether the Plaintiff suffered any real prejudice due to the problems with the discovery in the present case.

1. Procedural Timeline of Present Case

With the discovery facts regarding the Bennett case in mind, let us now turn to the timeline of the case at issue. On January 24, 1993, the Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint in Circuit Court. On March 28, the Plaintiff submitted his first Request for Documents and Interrogatories. Among those Interrogatories were four (4) specific questions.

Interrogatory No. 20:

Identify the names and addresses of each and every individual or entity who supplied labor and materials or both to the project.

The Defendants' answer to Interrogatory No. 20 was:

Object as being overly broad and not relating to any issue involved in this particular suit. In addition, such information is confidential as it presents a group of tradesmen available to the Defendant which gives him an economic edge. Without further clarification as to the relevance of this information these parties object as being overly broad and burdensome. In addition Mower, if he was on the job as much as he claims, would know much of this information.

Interrogatory No. 31:

Identify all correspondence, contracts or any writing of any kind or description between and among the contractor, architect/engineer, subcontractors, material and equipment suppliers, the owner, field representatives, bonding and surety companies, consultants, or any other person, firm, or entity concerning or affecting the project.

The Defendants' answer to Interrogatory No. 31 was:

Object as being overly broad and not related to issues relative to the mechanics lien foreclosure action and related offsets and counterclaims. If counsel for Plaintiff can provide the basis of why such a broad question needs to be addressed or what the scope or the extent of the work is leading to, we would be happy to reevaluate our answer; however, based on the foregoing and without waiving any objection I know of no correspondence, contracts, or writing of any kind with any subcontractor, material and equipment suppliers, field representatives, bonding and surety companies, consultants, or other persons, firms, or entity affecting the project. There was correspondence with the contractor and with such certain architect/engineers, however, to the extent such would lead to any discoverable information or are relevant in this case are highly questionable.

Interrogatory No. 34:

Identify all documents evidencing loans taken out by you of which any proceeds were used in connection with the project. Appellants answer was "In relationship to Aspen Construction and/or Lynn Padan: none."

Interrogatory No. 36:

"Identify all conversations or communications between you and the Plaintiff in connection with the project.

The Defendants' answer to Interrogatory No. 36 was:

It is difficult at best to identify all conversations. If you can identify a particular topic I can attempt to answer with some degree of certainty, but with such a broad question it is difficult.

A complete list of Interrogatories submitted by the Plaintiff/Appellee is found in Appendix C-4 and C-5. Many of

Plaintiff's request for documents were equally broad and vague. See Appendix C-4 and C-5.

Between March 28 and May 17 the Defendants' counsel was unable to obtain his clients' cooperation to adequately respond to the Interrogatories and Request for Documents.

On May 17 Plaintiff filed a Motion to Compel Discovery⁴. And on June 13 the trial court judge entered an Order Compelling Discovery as evidenced by the record. (R. 78.)

However, as the mailing certificate will indicate the Defendants were never served a copy of the signed Order and therefore had no notice that such an Order was in fact ever issued. See Affidavit of Joseph M. Chambers. (R. 79. mailing certificate on June 9, 1994, order dated May 7, 1994.)

Defendants did answer Plaintiff's first set of Interrogatories on June 15 (within the timeframe of the June 9, 1994, Order which was never sent to Attorney Chambers) save for the four (4) Interrogatories as to which Defendants objected. As for the remaining Interrogatories, Defendants felt they, in good faith, had filed complete answers and complied with Plaintiff's Request for Documents.⁵ However, on July 6, Plaintiff filed a Motion to Compel answers to the four (4) Interrogatories and documents.

⁴ The Defendants' attorney did not submit a response to the Motion because the reason the discovery was not answered was due to his clients not taking time to provide responses. Counsel felt submitting a reply under such circumstances would likely violate Rule 11 U.R.C.P.

⁵ The responses submitted by the Defendants to the Plaintiff Mower's Request for Production of Documents were similar to Mower's response to the Defendants request in the Bennett case. Compare Appendix C-2 and Appendix C-5.

The language of Plaintiff's Motion to Compel is crucial since the language of the Motion was much narrower than the language in the Order actually granted by the judge.

The Plaintiff's Motion requested "that his motion to compel and for sanctions be granted and that he be awarded his fees and costs incurred in bringing this motion." (R. 109.)

On July 8, two (2) days later, the Plaintiff deposed Mr. Padan. During this deposition Plaintiff was able to sufficiently clarify his discovery requests so that the Defendants could provide the documents that Plaintiff desired. Having finally understood what the Plaintiff was requesting, Mr. Padan agreed to provide the documents requested by July 15. (See Appendix C-8 pages 3-6.)

The events that occurred during the Padan deposition are crucial in judging the intent of the Defendants. During the Padan deposition, the Plaintiff was able to clarify his discovery request. During the deposition all parties were able to establish a timetable to satisfy the discovery requests and during the deposition, Defendants were given the impression that Plaintiff had waived her Motion to Compel. (R. 161 paragraph 8 Padan Affidavit.)

After the deposition, Mr. Padan went to work gathering the requested information from computer records at his office by pulling requested documents from his computer hard drive and other computer disks and compiling them onto a few computer disks that he could then transfer to Plaintiff. However, on July 13, Mr. Padan's office was burglarized. (R. 164.)

Quoting from the Salt Lake County Sheriff's Office initial report, the police stated, "it has been determined that there are approximately three miniature computers, two desktop model

computers, one of which was an IBM PS1 still in a box, one telephone, a fax machine and other assorted office items to include personal disks, company disks, and preprogrammed disks." The report continued by stating:

Kevin Monson reports that he left the business at 21:00 hours on 7/13/94 and when he returned at 07:30 hours he found someone had pried the front door to the north, made entry into the business and removed the listed property. It was apparent that the suspects were intent on obtaining only computer equipment, because other items such as air staple gun and some other power tools had been passed by.

Monson reports that it appears that each of the disks had been gone through, and in fact, in his office the small disks had been thumbled through and only certain disks removed.

Among the disks and computer files taken during the burglary were the primary files Mr. Padan used to compile the documents for the Plaintiff as well as the disks containing the files he had already compiled.

Immediately, Mr. Padan and Defendants' counsel called Plaintiff's counsel, Ms. Falk. Numerous calls were made and messages left, both with Ms. Falk's answering service and through her secretary. However, she did not return any of the calls to Mr. Padan or Mr. Chambers. At this time defense counsel was suffering from pneumonia and was unable to practice law for a period of time. (R. 155 Affidavit J. Chambers.) (This is the reason for Mr. Padan attempting to contact Plaintiff's counsel directly.)

Because Ms. Falk and Mr. Chambers had not in fact been able to communicate concerning the burglary, on July 20, Plaintiff's counsel filed a Motion to Submit for Decision her July 6 Motion to Compel. Without a hearing, the trial court granted Plaintiff's Motion on July 27, 1994. (R. 142.)

It is not so important that the court granted the Motion; but rather, it is the scope of the trial court's Order that is significant. The Plaintiff's Motion to Compel only asked for: compelled discovery, sanctions, and fees. (R. 109.) However, in the trial court's docketing statement the court mentioned for the first time the language, "the Defendant is to respond within twenty (20) days or the answer is stricken and judgment entered." (R. 148.) This language was not in the Motion to Compel nor was Plaintiff sent a copy of the internal disposition summary included in the court docket.

Only after August 4 did Plaintiff's counsel respond for the first time to the numerous messages left by the Defendant and Defendant's counsel regarding the burglary. In the fax, counsel refers to the Order granted by the trial court on July 27 and states that the defense must respond fully within twenty (20) or the judgment against them would be granted pursuant to the Order issued by the judge on the 27th of July. See Appendix D. Additionally, counsel for the Plaintiff was unwilling to grant any leeway due to the burglary or the medical problems of defense counsel. As the fax shows, she was simply unwilling to work with Defendants nor was she willing to accommodate the practical impossibility of complying with discovery because of the burglary.

A few days later, on August 8 counsel for the defense sent a letter to Plaintiff's counsel, including an Affidavit documenting his medical problems. (Appendix E) In this letter, defense counsel accused Plaintiff's counsel of intentionally attempting to stay ignorant of the facts of the case, of her failure to return the numerous messages left by both Mr. Padan and defense counsel,

and her knowledge and a reminder that it was not until the Padan deposition on July 8 that she sufficiently clarified the scope of her discovery that would allow the Defendants to comply.

Instead of responding to the letter, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Entry of Judgment on August 19, (R. 167) based Defendant's failure to comply with the August 4 Order to Compel. It is important to be aware that Plaintiff's Motion for Entry of Judgment was filed only fifteen (15) days after the trial court signed the Order which gave Defendants twenty (20) days to comply. The Defendants feel they have complied with all the discovery requests to the full extent of their ability to do so.

C. Disposition in Trial Court

On August 24, the trial judge granted judgment against the Defendants for over \$18,000. (R. 189.) However, the Defendants were only mailed an unsigned copy of the judgment back on August 19 when Plaintiff filed her motion for judgment. Appellants repeat they never received a copy of a signed judgment and no mailing certificate by a clerk or counsel states such was ever sent after entry by the court.

On August 26, the Defendants filed an Objection to the Proposed Order (Default Judgment), and Request to Stay Entry of Judgment and in the Alternative Motion for Relief from Judgment and for a New Trial. On September 22, the trial court denied the Defendants Motion. On October 12, Defendants filed a Notice of Appeal and this case now stands before this court to be addressed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Given the totality of the circumstances, where the Defendants had answered a significant amount of the discovery submitted and

because of a burglary were unable to produce the remainder of certain documents, it was an abuse of discretion to strike the Answer and a substantial Default Judgment against the Defendants.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DISMISSING THE DEFENDANTS' ANSWER AS SANCTIONS FOR FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH DISCOVERY GIVEN DEFENDANTS' INABILITY TO COMPLY RATHER THAN WILLFUL NONCOMPLIANCE.

A. A Default Judgment Is the "Capital Punishment" of All Sanctions and Should be Used Only as a Last Resort When Other Less Stringent Sanctions Would be Ineffective.

Rule 37 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure outlines the numerous sanctions available to a trial court when a party fails to cooperate with discovery. The Rule requires the court to issue sanctions that "are just." It then outlines specific sanctions. Such sanctions range from staying the proceedings until the order is obeyed, to contempt charges. However, all would agree that the "capital punishment" of all sanctions described in Rule 37 is the "dismissing [of] the action or proceeding or any part thereof, [or] rendering a default judgment." Utah. R. Civ. P. 37(b)(2)(C) (1994).

In Tucker Realty, Inc. v. Nunley, 396 P.2d 401 (Utah 1964), the Utah Supreme Court stated, "[w]e recognize that granting of a judgment against a party solely for disobeying an order to cooperate in discovery procedure is a stringent measure which should be employed with caution and restraint and only where the

failure has been willful and the interest of justice so demand."

Id. at 412

The Tucker court went on to caution the lower court that, "[E]xcept in very aggravated cases, less serious sanctions undoubtedly could be applied to accomplish the desired results, particularly where there is any likelihood of injustice by depriving a party of a meritorious cause of action or defense." Id.

B. The Discretion of the Trial Court Must Comport with Reason and Justice and Should Resolve Doubts in Favor of Permitting Parties to Have Their Day in Court on the Merits of the Controversy.

The standard of review for this issue is abuse of discretion. When reviewing the issuance of sanctions, the appellate courts have given trial courts considerable latitude. However, as the Supreme Court noted in Carman v. Slavens, 546 P.2d 601 (1976), (after recognizing the trial court's latitude):

[T]his [discretion] does not mean that the court has unrestrained power to act in an arbitrary manner. Fundamental to the concept of the rule of law is the principle that reason and justice shall prevail over the arbitrary and uncontrolled will of any one person; and that this applies to all men in every status: to courts and judges, as well as to autocrats or bureaucrats. The meaning of the term 'discretion' itself imports that the action should be taken within reason and good conscience in the interest of protecting the rights of both parties and serving the ends of justice.

Id. at 603.

After reviewing the reasons Defendants were unable to comply with the twenty (20) day limit, the Appellant invites this court to ask itself whether ordering Judgment against the Defendants was: (1) employed with caution and restraint and only where the failure has been willful and the interests of justice so demand; (2) issued only after determining the Defendants' actions constituted a very aggravated case; (3) imposed only after determining less serious

sanctions could not accomplish the desired results; (3) unlikely to cause injustice or deprive the Defendants of a meritorious defense; or, (4) imposed after determining that the Defendants' failure to comply within the twenty (20) day limit had been willful?

If this Court answers no to such questions, then the Appellant submits the trial court's decision was not "taken with reason and good conscience and in the interest of protecting the rights of both parties and serving the ends of justice" And if such is the case, this Court should find that the trial court did abuse its discretion.

C. Because of the July 13th Burglary, Defendants' Failure to Comply was Due to Inability Rather than Willful Noncompliance, thus Striking the Defendants' Answer and Counterclaim Awarding Judgment for Plaintiff was an Abuse of Discretion.

The trial court issued Judgment for Plaintiff on August 24 solely because the Defendants supposedly failed to comply with the twenty (20) day timeframe stated in the August 4 Order compelling discovery. It is therefore essential to focus on the Defendants' violation of the twenty (20) day timeframe in order to determine whether the trial court abused its discretion in granting Judgment.

The trial court's August 4 Order compelling discovery stated:

"Plaintiff's Motion to compel is granted. Defendants are to provide their response to Plaintiff's within 20 days or Defendants' answer will be deemed stricken and judgment entered." (R. 109.)

Twenty (20) days after this Order was issued, the trial court entered a Judgment against the Defendants. The Judgment stated: "the Court ordered defendants to produce the requested discovery by no later than 20 days from the date of the Court's ruling, or judgment will be entered in favor of the Plaintiff." (R. 148.) As

to when the twenty (20) days was to commence seems to have caused some confusion. Plaintiff's counsel filed her Motion for Entry of Judgment on August 19--only fifteen (15) days after the trial court signed the Order which gave Defendant twenty (20) days to comply with the Order to Compel. The trial court waited until August 24 before signing the Entry of Judgment, twenty (20) days after signing the August 4 Order to Compel. However, in order to give Defendants a full twenty (20) days to comply with the Order to Compel, the trial court should have signed the Judgment on the morning of the 25th of August.

Notwithstanding the problem above, the issue before this court is whether the trial court abused its discretion when it granted Judgment for the Plaintiff because the Defendants supposedly failed to comply with the Order within twenty (20) days.

Appellants submit that the July 13th burglary of Mr. Padan's office made it impossible for Defendants to comply with the trial court's Order within the twenty (20) day limit. The police report from the Salt Lake County Sheriff's office states:

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