1994

Michael A. Mower v. James D. Craghead, F. Lunn Padan : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A trial court has discretion, pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 37(b)(2)(C), to render a judgment by default against a party who fails to comply with discovery. Rule 55 Utah R. of Civ. P. provides a party seeking to set aside a default judgment must do so pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b). It is then within the discretion of the trial court whether or not to grant the motion. A denial of a motion to set aside a default judgment will not be disturbed, even if there were some basis on which a default judgment could have been set aside, unless defendants can clearly prove an abuse of discretion.

The record shows defendants were granted numerous opportunities to respond to discovery, including extensions of time and two motions to compel. Defendants' failure to respond to discovery in this case was due to their own negligence, their failure to cooperate with their counsel, and their disregard of the judicial process. The record contains sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in entering a default judgment against defendants for their failure to respond

Nor did the circuit court abuse its discretion in denying defendants' motion to set aside the default pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b). The evidence contained in the record supports the trial court's rulings. The record shows the burglary, which defendants claim made response impossible, took place over two months after the time defendants were required to respond, and

after one motion to compel had been granted and a second motion filed. In addition, the record contains no evidence the alleged burglary kept defendant Padan from providing documents not on the computer discs allegedly stolen, or was the reason for defendant Craghead's failure to produce any documents, or kept either of the defendants from answering interrogatories. At best, the burglary only offers a limited justification. Furthermore, there is no evidence either of the defendants' attempt to notify plaintiff of the burglary and make other arrangements concerning discovery until after the second motion was submitted for decision. Instead, the record shows a constant disregard and lack of diligence by defendants to comply with plaintiff's requests and the court's orders. Defendants failed to meet their burden of showing a clear abuse of discretion by the circuit court. The entry of judgment in favor of plaintiff should be affirmed, and plaintiff should be awarded his attorneys' fees and costs on appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN STRIKING DEFENDANTS' ANSWER AND ENTERING DEFAULT JUDGMENT FOR FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH DISCOVERY.

Utah R. Civ. P. 37(b)(2) states in relevant part:

If a party fails to obey an order to provide or permit discovery...the court in which the action is pending may make such orders in regard to the failure as are just, and among others the following:...(C) an order striking out pleadings or...rendering a judgment by default against the disobedient party.

(Add. A.)

"The entry of default judgment as a sanction based on failure to fulfill discovery obligations is within the discretion of the trial court." Shoney v. Memorial Estates, Inc., 790 P.2d 584, 585 (Utah App. 1990); Tucker Realty v. Nunley, 396 P.2d 410, 412 (Utah 1964). The sanction of default is justified "without reference to whether the unexcused failure to make discovery was wilful." W.W.& W. B. Gardner, Inc. v. Park West Village, Inc., 568 P.2d 734, 738 (Utah 1977).

A lower court's granting of a default judgment is presumed to be correct and shall not be disturbed "unless it is shown [the court's] action is without support in the record, or is a plain abuse of discretion." Amica Mutual Insurance Co. v. Shettler, 768 P.2d at, 961 (Utah App. 1989); Tucker Realty v. Nunley, 396 at 412. "That some basis may exist to set aside the default does not require the conclusion that the court abused its discretion in refusing to do so when the facts and circumstances support the refusal." Utah Dept. of Transportation v. Osguthorpe, 259 Utah Adv. Rep. 36, 39 (Utah 1995); citing Katz v. Pierce, 732 P.2d 92, 93 (Utah 1986).

In Shoney v. Memorial Estates, 790 P.2d 584, 586, this Court affirmed the district court's granting of a default judgment to defendants as a sanction against plaintiff for failure to respond to discovery served on plaintiffs less than two months before, finding the absence of a motion to compel did not require a finding of abuse of discretion because there was ample evidence in the record supporting the court's decision. Id. at 586.

In this case, there is also ample evidence in the record to support the trial court's decision to enter a default judgment. The defendants in this case were granted even more opportunities to respond than was the plaintiff in Shoney. Unlike in Shoney, defendants in this case had already been served with two motions to compel the requested discovery, and had been given notice of a twenty-day time period in which to respond, before judgment was entered. Defendants were given an excess of three additional months to respond to discovery. Within that time period, defendants were repeatedly reminded by plaintiff's counsel and by the Court of their obligations.

Furthermore, defendants' own counsel admits that "[b]etween March 28 and May 17 the defendants' counsel was unable to obtain his clients' cooperation to adequately respond to the Interrogatories and Request for Documents." (App. Br. at 6.)

Defendants' counsel also claims he did not file a response to plaintiff's first motion to compel "due to his clients not taking time to provide responses." (App. Br. at 6, n.4.)

The record also reflects that when defendants finally did file responses, the responses were insufficient, with several interrogatories left completely unanswered, and with no documents produced. The record also shows that, although plaintiff's counsel agreed to continue the deposition of Padan to allow defendants more time to produce the documents, defendants still failed to comply, requiring plaintiff to file a second motion to compel. (R. at 113, 111.)

The record also shows that defendants did not file any responsive pleading to either motion to compel. There is ample evidence of defendants' continual failure to comply. This Court should affirm the circuit court's decision granting judgment in favor of plaintiff.

II. THE COURT'S REFUSAL TO SET ASIDE THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT WAS NOT AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION; DEFENDANT FAILED TO MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF UTAH R. CIV. P. 60(b).

Defendants also appeal the trial court's refusal to set aside the default judgment. Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b) states in relevant part:

On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect...or (7) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment.

(Add. A.)

In ruling on a motion to set aside a default judgment pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b), the trial court is afforded broad discretion "and its determination will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion." Birch v. Birch, 771 P.2d 1114, 1117 (Utah App. 1989). The trial court's ruling in such cases will not be reversed by the appellate court "merely because the motion could have been granted." State by and Through Div. of Social Services v. Musselman, 667 P.2d 1053, 1055 (Utah 1983) (citations omitted).

On August 4, 1994, over three months after defendants' responses were due, the circuit court signed an order reflecting

it's minute entry of July 26, 1994, granting plaintiff's Motion to Compel and for fees. (R at 147-148; Add. B.)

Even though the circuit court had not yet entered a default judgment, but had only entered an Order granting fees and giving defendants 20 days to comply, on August 9, 1994, defendants filed an objection to the Order entered on August 4th pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 60(b)(1) and (7), stating that a burglary of defendant Padan's office on July 13, 1994, made compliance with the order impossible. (R. at 150-165.)

The record does not support defendants' assertion that all compliance was impossible. Even accepting the burglary prevented production of documents on computer disks, there is no mention on the police report that the documents not on a computer disk, such as architectural plans, defendant Padan's 1992 and 1993 day planners, and bills, bids and invoices submitted by subcontractors, were stolen. (R. at 164-165.) Nor does the alleged burglary of Padan's office offer an explanation why both Padan and Craghead failed to complete their answers to the interrogatories, or why Craghead failed to produce any documents. Defendants had had the discovery for over three months, and had already been in default for failure to respond for over two months, before the alleged burglary even took place. The record is also void of any adequate explanation for defendants' tardiness in notifying plaintiff of the alleged burglary, for failing

to produce to plaintiff's counsel a list of the documents allegedly stolen, or for failing to produce discovery during the various opportunities allowed by the circuit court.

Apart from burglary, the only other excuse offered by defendants for their continual failure to respond is the alleged illness of their counsel. As with the burglary, however, the alleged illness of counsel was not until July 20, 1995, almost three months after the responses were due. (R. at 155-156.)¹

Moreover, defendants' excuses were considered by the circuit court, and the circuit court determined these factors to be insignificant. Whether the defenses or excuses raised by defendants justified giving defendants even more time than the three-month extension already given was a decision within the discretion of the circuit court. It is well settled that it is the trial judge who is in the best position to make such a determination as whether to set aside a default judgment. Board of Education v. Cox, 384 P.2d 806, 808 (Utah 1963).

In the absence of an abuse of discretion, the Appellate Court "should not undertake to substitute [its] idea of what is proper for that of the trial court." G.M. Leasing Corp. v. Murray First Thrift and Loan Co, 534 P.2d 1244, 1245 (Utah 1975). The circuit court could choose not to find the burglary as a

¹ The defendants' delay can best be ascertained by reviewing the various deadlines and extensions given plaintiff. Discovery was served March 28, 1994, making responses due on Monday, May 1, 1994 (34 days). The Court's first order compelling discovery extended the deadline to June 19, 1994. The second order extended the deadline to August 24, 1994, 149 days after the discovery was mailed.

justification for setting aside the default, especially in the light of defendants' failure to provide sufficient evidence to excuse their near-total failure to respond. Defendants have failed to meet their burden of showing a clear abuse of discretion; the circuit court's entry of judgment in favor of plaintiff should be affirmed.

III. DEFENDANTS WERE GIVEN NOTICE OF THE TWENTY-DAY TIME LIMIT TO RESPOND TO DISCOVERY.

On August 24, 1994, the circuit court entered a default judgment in favor of plaintiff. Defendants filed a second motion pursuant to Rule 60(b)(1) and (7) seeking to set aside the default judgment. (R. at 192-202.) Again, the record supports the trial court's refusal to set aside the judgment.

In their motion, defendants claim there was no order prepared concerning the deadline for discovery, in contravention of Rule 4-504(1) of the Code of Judicial Administration. This contention, however, is contradicted by the record. Both the circuit court's minute entry and the order clearly and explicitly refer to the 20-day time limitation:

Plaintiff's Motion to Compel granted. Attnys
fees awarded. Defendants respond w/in 20
days or answer stricken and judgment entered

(Add. B; R. at 142;)

Plaintiff's Motion to Compel is granted. Defendants
are to respond within 20 days or defendants' answer
will be deemed stricken and judgment entered.

(Add. B; R. at 147-148.)

IV. DEFENDANTS' ARGUMENT ON CLAIM PRECLUSION WAS NOT ARGUED BELOW, IS NOT CONTAINED IN THE RECORD, AND IS NOT BEFORE THE COURT.

Defendants' first motion pursuant to Rule 60(b) seeks to set aside the default judgment, claiming impossibility due to burglary and excusable neglect due to illness of counsel. Their second motion seeks to set aside the judgment on the grounds that the procedural requirements of Rule 4-501 of the Code of Judicial Administration were not met.²

Defendants now seek to raise on appeal, a new argument--for the first time--that a default judgment granted defendant Padan in a different case in which Mower and defendant Craghead were co-defendants, bars plaintiff from recovery from defendants in this case.

Defendants did not raise this issue below and are precluded from raising it on appeal. Dansie v. Anderson Lumber Co., 878 P.2d 1155 (Utah App. 1994); Ringwood v. Foreign Autoworks, Inc., 786 P.2d 1350 (Utah App. 1990); Broberg v. Hess, 782 P.2d 198 (Utah App. 1989). Nor does the default judgment entered against the plaintiff of the other case in favor of defendants Craghead and Padan preclude plaintiff's claims against defendants in this

² Defendants also argued the Judgment should be set aside because they fully complied. (R. at 159.) Plaintiff disputed this. (R. at 216-17.) Furthermore, "a party has a certain specified time to answer; if he does not, he has failed to answer, and the opposing party may appropriately invoke the sanctions." Shoney v. Memorial Estates, Inc., 790 P.2d at 586 (citations omitted). See also W.W. & W.B. Gardener v. Park W. Village, 568 P.2d at 737: "once the motions for sanctions has been filed, the opposing party may not preclude their imposition by making a belated response...."

action before the court.³ Nor are defendants freed from their legal obligations and liabilities to produce discovery and comply with the Court's orders in this case. In addition to being barred from being considered for not being raised below, defendant's reliance on the other case is without merit, for it simply has no bearing on plaintiff's rights or defendants' obligations in this case; the circuit court's granting of judgment in favor of plaintiff should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION